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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good evening. My

          3  statement says good morning, but, you know... It's

          4  actually one year we did this budget. The Finance

          5  time was scheduled for 10:00 a.m., we actually

          6  started for 10:00 p.m. But this time we didn't

          7  schedule for 10:00 a.m., I think we scheduled it for

          8  4:00 p.m., so it's not so bad.

          9                 I want to announce at the beginning

         10  of the meeting that Council Member Eric Gioia is not

         11  here, because his wife, Lisa, just gave birth to a

         12  baby girl. Amelia Hernandez Gioia, weighed in at

         13  seven pounds 14 ounces, and I understand Amelia and

         14  Lisa are doing fine, and we look forward to seeing

         15  them in the next fiscal year.

         16                 If not now, when? Welcome to this

         17  meeting of the City Council's Finance Committee. My

         18  name is David Weprin, I chair the Finance Committee.

         19  We have Council Member Simcha Felder from Brooklyn,

         20  Council Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, my

         21  distinguished Counsel Anne Brown, Council Member

         22  Alan Gerson from Manhattan, Council Member Maria

         23  Baez from the Bronx, Council Member Vincent Gentile

         24  from Brooklyn, Council Member Mike McMahon from

         25  Staten Island, Council Member Miguel Martinez from
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          2  Manhattan and Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr.,

          3  from Queens, and Council Member Lew Fidler from

          4  Brooklyn.

          5                 This evening, is it still evening? We

          6  will consider the proposed Expense and Capital

          7  Budgets and take those actions necessary to

          8  recommend a Fiscal '07 budget to the full Council,

          9  as well as actions necessary to fix the property

         10  taxes for Fiscal Year 2007 and legislative actions

         11  relating to the film tax credit, the absentee

         12  landlord surcharge and the five-year educational

         13  facilities capital plan.

         14                 However, before we get to the

         15  upcoming fiscal year, we must close out the current

         16  fiscal year with a budget modification. We will have

         17  before us MN 7, the Mayor's Expense modification, MN

         18  8, the Mayor's revenue modification.

         19                 The revenue modification recognizes

         20  new revenue of 657.6 million, most of which consists

         21  of new tax revenues.

         22                 This money will be used to prepay

         23  various expenses in the 2007 budget, including

         24  library subsidies, Transit Authority, the MTA, and

         25  significant amount of debt service.
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          2                 The Expense modification reduces the

          3  General Reserve by $60 million and provides for an

          4  increase of 417.7 million, the budget stabilization

          5  account, and the City's debt service budget.

          6                 Moving on to our Fiscal Year 2007

          7  budget, I believe this is a budget we could all be

          8  proud of and I urge your support in adopting the

          9  budget we have before us.

         10                 Back in January the Speaker announced

         11  that it would be a Council priority to end the

         12  budget dance, and I joined in the chorus. And we

         13  called for transparency in the budget process.

         14  Throughout the Finance Committee budget hearings, I

         15  pledge the try and end the budget dance so that the

         16  Council can focus on important City priorities

         17  instead of focusing on the items we continually

         18  restore.

         19                 I believe that as a result of this

         20  budget process the Council's role has evolved from

         21  one that simply restores Mayoral cuts to one that

         22  jointly formulates policy and funds programs that

         23  both sides of City Hall are invested in.

         24                 For example, in the budget that we

         25  have before us, that Administration allocates $12
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          2  million for bulletproof vests. This is the first

          3  time an initiative has been included in the

          4  Executive Budget, as a result of the Council's march

          5  response.

          6                 The main changes embodied in the

          7  proposed Fiscal Year '07 budget include baselining

          8  five-day library service, the Summer Jobs program

          9  and additional garbage pick-up in the other four

         10  boroughs. And we know what others. These were

         11  Council initiatives that had previously

         12  year-after-year been cut by the Administration.

         13                 The budget also includes several new

         14  initiatives that we can be proud of that will really

         15  help all New Yorkers.

         16                 The funding for these programs will

         17  help fight hunger, expand universal prekindergarten,

         18  protect affordable housing and strengthen child

         19  protective services.

         20                 In addition, the Council has

         21  demonstrated fiscal responsibility by allocating $1

         22  billion to the Health Care Security Trust Fund to

         23  fund future health care liabilities of the City's

         24  retirees. This is in addition to the $1 billion we

         25  previously set aside earlier in Fiscal '06. For
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          2  these reasons I urge your support so that this

          3  committee can recommend to this budget to the full

          4  Council.

          5                 At the same time we vote on the

          6  budget, we must fix the property tax rates for

          7  Fiscal 2007.

          8                 We will consider those three

          9  tax-fixing tax resolutions which leave the average

         10  tax rate unchanged.

         11                 In addition, to the budget items,

         12  this Committee will be approving an amendment to the

         13  five-year educational facility's capital plan.

         14                 After years of litigation we are

         15  pleased to see that the State has finally done the

         16  right thing.

         17                 In April, the Legislature and

         18  Governor announced that they would provide the 6.5

         19  billion in State funding that the five year capital

         20  plan requires.

         21                 Today we will be approving an

         22  amendment that reflects a fully funded five-year

         23  plan. This money will be used to eliminate

         24  overcrowding, reduced class size and to build

         25  science and computer labs so that all of our schools
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          2  can provide students with a sound, basic education.

          3                 Finally, we have two pieces of

          4  budget-related legislation before us.

          5                 The first, a proposed local law to

          6  increase the film tax credit would provide $30

          7  million in City film tax credits on an annual basis

          8  to production companies filming movies and

          9  television shows in this City.

         10                 This legislation would increase the

         11  amount from 12.5 million to 30 million, and would

         12  extend the credit until December 2011. The second, a

         13  proposed local law relating to the absentee landlord

         14  surcharge would decrease the rate of the surcharge

         15  25 percent to zero percent and will go into effect

         16  on July 1st, 2006.

         17                 Without this legislation, the

         18  surcharge will go into effect at the beginning of

         19  July.

         20                 We have been joined by a few more

         21  colleagues. We have Council Member David Yassky from

         22  Brooklyn, Council Member Helen Sears from Queens,

         23  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council

         24  Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan, Council Member

         25  Diana Reyna from Brooklyn and Queens, and Council
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          2  Member Sara Gonzalez from Brooklyn, and we have the

          3  republican contingency, well two of the three,

          4  anyway, our Minority Leader Jim Oddo from Staten

          5  Island, and Council Member Dennis Gallagher from

          6  Queens, and our Majority Leader is joining them,

          7  Council Member Joel Rivera fresh from the Bronx

          8  dinner.

          9                 We have a special guest lecturer, in

         10  addition to distinguished members and colleagues at

         11  the table. We have our First Deputy Budget Director,

         12  because the Budget Director went to sleep, but we

         13  have Stuart Klein, the First Deputy Budget Director,

         14  who is going to testify on the various budget

         15  modifications, MN 7 and MN 8. And we've also been

         16  joined by some more Council members. We have Council

         17  Member Leroy Comrie from Queens, and Council Member

         18  Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

         19                 I think I got everybody. And we have

         20  our Finance Director, Mike Keogh, and we have

         21  Council Member Dan Garodnick from Manhattan, and

         22  Simcha Felder will announce anyone else that needs

         23  to be announced.

         24                 Is Deputy Budget Director Klein in

         25  the house? Join this distinguished panel.
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          2                 We have also been joined by

          3  Councilman Jim Gennaro from Queens. I think it's

          4  more Council Members than we ever get at meetings. I

          5  think we should have all our meetings at ten o'clock

          6  at night. It might solve our quorum problem.

          7                 Mr. Klein, do you have an opening

          8  statement? Do you have a closing statement? What's

          9  your closing statement? Do we have any questions for

         10  the Deputy Budget Director?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         13  Koppell.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I would like

         15  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We're waiting for

         17  the books anyway.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I note, Mr.

         19  Budget Director, I note that we have before us an

         20  additional modification that shows additional

         21  revenues of approximately $600 million; is that

         22  correct? And that money is essentially going to be

         23  used to prepay expenses for the next fiscal year; is

         24  that correct? Yes.

         25                 What is the total amount that we're
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          2  going to in the budget, including this 600 million

          3  that we're going to roll over into the next fiscal

          4  year by prepaying expenses?

          5                 MR. KLEIN: The total amount for

          6  Fiscal Year '06 being rolled to '07 is about $3.8

          7  billion.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And that

          9  doesn't include the $1 billion for the health care

         10  trust?

         11                 MR. KLEIN: No, it does not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So that one

         13  could say in summary that we have a surplus, in

         14  essence, for this fiscal year of approximately $4.8

         15  billion?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: I think that the City

         17  Comptroller and our accountants would report our

         18  surpluses as 3.8 billion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But why

         20  wouldn't one take the health care trust? Are you

         21  saying that the health care trust would not be

         22  deemed part of the surplus? Is that what you're

         23  saying?

         24                 MR. KLEIN: I'm saying from an

         25  accounting point of view it's an expenditure during
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          2  the fiscal year for legitimate expense, and it's not

          3  considered part of the surplus.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But it's

          5  certainly not money that we're spending in the

          6  current fiscal year. Well, we're spending it, but

          7  we're spending it by putting into trust, is what

          8  you're saying?

          9                 MR. KLEIN: The trust is not part of

         10  the City anymore. It's an irrevocable trust. We made

         11  the expenditure to the trust. The City can't use

         12  that money for operating purposes any longer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That

         14  allocation was made in the 2006 fiscal year?

         15                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I believe

         18  Councilman Oddo has a question.

         19                 He wants to know what's in the budget

         20  for Staten Island.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Eventually, yes.

         22                 Stu, if I said to you Medicaid

         23  disallowance $285 million, could you explain that

         24  for us?

         25                 MR. KLEIN: I guess the federal
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          2  government is in the process of doing an audit of

          3  the City and of the State of Medicaid reimbursements

          4  that we use to fund the Board of Ed's operating

          5  budget. And this sort of goes back, I believe, to

          6  the 1993 or so and throughout that period the Board

          7  had spent a significant amount of this money on

          8  Medicare programs. I think the Board has claimed,

          9  and nobody is really disputing, that the money was

         10  used appropriately over there, they have not been

         11  able to produce adequate documentation.

         12                 These audits are in the final stages,

         13  and if you read the City's official statement, we've

         14  been disclosing for a long time that the City could

         15  be liable for very substantial penalties. And we're

         16  not admitting to these penalties, but we feel that

         17  in a year like this it's prudent to put some money

         18  away.

         19                 This amount of money that we put away

         20  is but a small fraction of the money the feds might

         21  be seeking.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So this is $285

         23  million that has been taken aside from the surplus,

         24  if you will, and put aside for potential future

         25  payment?
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          2                 MR. KLEIN: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, if Council

          4  Member Koppell was computing the budget surplus,

          5  could he theoretically add that 285 to the number

          6  that he mentioned?

          7                 MR. KLEIN: No. For the same reason,

          8  that an expense into the disallowance reserve is a

          9  reduction in revenue. And I'd like to point out that

         10  when you get to the year that if you actually

         11  receive a disallowance from the federal or state

         12  government, and I believe New Jersey just received a

         13  very large one, and the feds have started a major

         14  initiative to go after localities for these types of

         15  things, that becomes a current year's operating

         16  budget charge.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No further

         18  questions. Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         20  by some more colleagues. We have Council Member Eric

         21  Martin Dilan from Brooklyn, and Council Member

         22  Domenic Recchia from Brooklyn. Any other members I

         23  didn't mention?

         24                 Council Member Inez Dickens from

         25  Manhattan, and Council Member Melinda Katz from
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          2  Queens. Any other questions for Mr. Klein? Any other

          3  questions for anyone?

          4                 Okay, we have the School Construction

          5  Authority here, and the School Construction

          6  Authority will testify on the amendment to the

          7  five-year capital plan. Who is here from the School

          8  Construction Authority? Okay, we have a substitute.

          9  We have Nadine Felton can talk about -- Nadine, do

         10  you want to come up?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Chairman,

         12  they're here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Oh, they're here?

         14  School Construction Authority come forward.

         15                 Please identify yourselves for the

         16  record and ignore those Council members behind the

         17  curtain. The light has to be off to be on.

         18                 MR. HOLDEN: My name is Ross Holden.

         19  I'm the Vice President and General Counsel of the

         20  New York City School Construction Authority.

         21                 MS. BERGEN: My name is Liz Bergen.

         22  I'm the Director of Capital Planning for the New

         23  York City School Construction Authority.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, tell us

         25  something we don't know. You got a few hours?
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          2                 MR. HOLDEN: In the interest of time,

          3  we don't have any prepared statements.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, we're still

          5  waiting for the book, so we've got time.

          6                 MR. HOLDEN: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No prepared

          8  statement? Okay, Council Member Jackson will

          9  filibuster. Education Chair Jackson.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         11                 Mr. Holden you said, is that correct?

         12                 MR. HOLDEN: Holden, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, great.

         14  And you're Vice President at SCA?

         15                 MR. HOLDEN: Vice President and

         16  General Counsel.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Can you

         18  tell me what the difference is in this plan that

         19  we're going to approve, the resolution, compared to

         20  what was approved by the Education, Policy for

         21  Educational Priorities?  Or I think Panel. Can you

         22  tell me what the difference between this plan and

         23  that plan.

         24                 MR. HOLDEN: The major difference is

         25  that we now have State funding and the projects are
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          2  not broken down by State or City funding. We have

          3  the funding. We've been advanced money by OMB. We've

          4  started back in our program to design and construct

          5  what we had originally contemplated when we approved

          6  the original plan back in 2005.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So you've now

          8  then distributed a new document which basically now

          9  has all of the projects City and not broken down by

         10  State and City?

         11                 MR. HOLDEN: There is no

         12  identification between one or the other, it's just

         13  projects. In other words, we don't break it down

         14  between what's State funded and City funded any

         15  longer because now we do have the funding in place.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And are all

         17  of the projects that were in the five-year capital

         18  plan before the Panel for Educational Policy

         19  approved an amendment to the plan, which eliminated

         20  21 schools and many other capital projects, CIPs,

         21  are all of those schools and all of those CIPs back

         22  in place in the plan as there were before?

         23                 MR. HOLDEN: With respect to the 21

         24  schools, yes, they are. In fact, we've already bid

         25  out nine of the 21 in this fiscal year and are
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          2  awarding eight of them. The other 13, 12 rather are

          3  in various stages of design and we anticipate that

          4  they will be bid out in the next fiscal. There have

          5  been some changes with regard to CIP between the

          6  February amendment and the May amendment, some adds

          7  and some deletes between them.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And are

          9  those, the differences between what was in the plan

         10  and now, is that highlighted either in the huge

         11  document, which is the five-year capital plan? Or is

         12  it in the Executive Summary of the proposed changes

         13  rather than someone going through the entire

         14  document looking at it?

         15                 MR. HOLDEN: There's what we call the

         16  classic version of the plan that does contain a list

         17  that you can look at and see, have a comparison.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You call that

         19  the classic document?

         20                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes, right. We do several

         21  different versions, like classic, like the Coke, the

         22  new Coke, we have what we call kind of the classic

         23  version of the plan, we have others broken down by

         24  region, various sorts, depending on the audience

         25  that is reviewing it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And how is a

          3  member of the City Council, in looking at the

          4  documents, whether the classic or non-classic, in

          5  looking at what are the differences in their

          6  district. Knowing that they're not, I don't believe

          7  any of them are, there may be, can read the

          8  documents like the people at SCA can read it; how

          9  are they supposed to understand that document? Is it

         10  understandable? Is it readable in the plain language

         11  sense so that a member of the City Council wanting

         12  to see -- for example, in District 7, the district I

         13  represent, and if I wanted to look at the CIPs, the

         14  Capital Improvement Projects, that were in the

         15  document and look at it now, and I want to look at

         16  the schools that were deleted and the schools that

         17  are now back on board, can I easily, am I easily

         18  able to read that document?

         19                 MR. HOLDEN: Not by Council district.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No?

         21                 MR. HOLDEN: No.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What district

         23  then?

         24                 MR. HOLDEN: By school district.

         25  Region and in school district, but not --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: By region and

          3  school district?

          4                 MR. HOLDEN: Right. For the adds and

          5  deletes.

          6                 We really didn't delete. I misspoke

          7  when I said adds and deletes, it's adds and defers,

          8  and pushing it out, but not -- because some work has

          9  been done and some work is yet to be completed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, in

         11  essence, you added back the 21 schools, and you

         12  added back the CIPs that were deferred. The CIPs

         13  weren't taken out, they were just deferred.

         14                 MR. HOLDEN: Neither were the 21

         15  schools. They were all deferred.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: They were all

         17  deferred.

         18                 MR. HOLDEN: All deferred.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, in

         20  essence, you brought them back into line?

         21                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes. Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is there any

         23  code or any document that shows that you've moved

         24  stuff up that was deferred to '08, '09, that you

         25  moved up to '07?
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          2                 MR. HOLDEN: We would have to prepare

          3  that specially. We don't have that information

          4  readily at hand. The specific projects, a list that

          5  you were describing, would have to be prepared.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think we

          7  sent out a memo to all the Council members asking

          8  them, concerning this five-year capital plan

          9  amendment, that if they wanted to sit down with SCA

         10  officials to discuss the needs in their district,

         11  and also to look at the schools that are planned

         12  under the five-year capital plan and the capital

         13  improvement projects, that they do that. Do you know

         14  how many, if any members, took advantage of that?

         15                 MR. HOLDEN: I don't know whether

         16  anyone -- Council Member James, since the last

         17  hearing of the Education Committee, Council Member

         18  James has reached out and we're setting up a

         19  meeting.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         21                 Now, I was present when Governor

         22  Pataki signed into law, and Mayor Bloomberg was

         23  there and other elected officials and staff, and

         24  many other people were at the warehouse in which

         25  Sunset Park High School is going to be built, and
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          2  Council Member Sara Gonzalez, who is there who the

          3  site is in her district, I believe he signed into

          4  law the legislation that will bring about 11.2

          5  billion over five years; is that correct?

          6                 MR. HOLDEN: I'm sorry, I'm not

          7  following. You mean the Excel legislation?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is that what

          9  it was?

         10                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Was that 11.2

         12  billion?

         13                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. So,

         15  with respects to the five-year capital plan, which

         16  was 13.1 billion over five years, I want to be sure,

         17  and the members of the City Council want to be sure

         18  that the legislation that was signed authorizing the

         19  monies, whether or not State monies or some City

         20  monies, are all of the projects that have been

         21  identified in the five-year capital plan, will they

         22  be funded as a result of the monies we're expecting

         23  under CFE and the City to put in as per that $11.2

         24  billion package that was put together?

         25                 MR. HOLDEN: The 13.1 or there about
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          2  billion dollar plan is back in place because of the

          3  State funding. Not all of that 11.2 billion goes to

          4  the City, it goes to other districts, as well.

          5                 We will have our 6.5 billion that

          6  comes from the State in addition to the 6.5 of the

          7  City authorized.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's a

          9  total of 13.1; is that correct?

         10                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes, that's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, so my

         12  question to you is, I have been told that previous

         13  five-year capital plans that were in place, that if

         14  you look at the projects of the schools to be built

         15  and the CIPs, that at least the two previous

         16  five-year plans, they were never fully implemented.

         17  And I'm asking you whether or not the five-year

         18  capital plan is going to be fully implemented and

         19  not have, for example, 65 percent of the projects or

         20  75 percent of the projects implemented in the five

         21  years, and 25 percent will never be done. Quite

         22  frankly, because there are two schools up in

         23  District 6 represented by Council Member Miguel

         24  Martinez and myself that are in the plan but do not

         25  have any site for it, and we want to be assured that

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  those schools are going to be built.

          3                 Isn't that correct, Council Member

          4  Martinez?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Councilman, when

          6  I said to filibuster, I was just kidding.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Council

          8  Member Weprin, I haven't see the books come in yet.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, we have five

         10  other people who want to ask questions now.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, very

         12  good.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Let me get my

         14  last answer then.

         15                 MR. HOLDEN: One thing that we've

         16  tried to do every year that hasn't been done the

         17  last two capital plans is to have an amendment every

         18  year to take care of whatever changes have to be

         19  made. Sometimes it is difficult to find sites, we're

         20  always looking. We have real estate group, we have

         21  brokers always plowing the fields to always try to

         22  find things. If there are changes, if we find

         23  something, if there is a modification of any type,

         24  that will be reflected in the plan amendment which

         25  we do every November.
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          2                 So, that's the difference between the

          3  last two plans when that type of situation occurred,

          4  and this one, where we're trying to keep abreast of

          5  any changes through no fault of anybody's by having

          6  an amendment that we put out to the public and vote

          7  upon.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I appreciate

          9  the fact that this plan has an amendment process

         10  every year. And I appreciate the fact that the

         11  amendment has to be approved by the City Council.

         12  But my question still is to you, that now that you

         13  have the money, I want to be guaranteed that the

         14  five-year capital plan will be implemented in total,

         15  and I don't seem to get that answer from you as the

         16  Vice President and General Counsel.

         17                 MR. HOLDEN: The only reason I can't

         18  do that is we're in the second year of the plan. We

         19  are anticipating at this juncture completing all of

         20  the projects that are listed in there. But as I

         21  said, there are circumstances that are beyond our

         22  control. That's why we do the amendment every year.

         23  We want to take stock of what the prices are. We

         24  sometimes get bids that are not what we think are in

         25  keeping with what the cost should be, and we defer
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          2  those. So, there are a variety of issues that we

          3  face and we try to disclose that, be as transparent

          4  as possible by having the plan amendment.

          5                 So, I can tell you, we do our best,

          6  to the extent we cannot, it's going to be disclosed

          7  in a plan amendment, and I can't predict precisely

          8  what's going to happen to every single project over

          9  the last three years, next three years, but everyone

         10  is going to know about it, whether it's built or it

         11  has to be deferred, but we're going to do our best

         12  to do it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I want

         14  to thank you for your responses. I'm sure that you

         15  didn't come here expecting to have a blown-out

         16  hearing on the five-year capital plan. But thank

         17  you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 Council Member Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 I think the amendment each year is a

         24  great idea. I think it was the Council's idea, but

         25  it was probably joint.
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          2                 MR. HOLDEN: You get a lot of credit

          3  for it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think it is.

          5                 My question is on the CIPs, I

          6  represent the West Side of Manhattan. We have a lot

          7  of schools, but not new schools coming. So the

          8  improvements are what we're interested in. And the

          9  question is, is there a percentage as to what each

         10  year, I have read the plan, but focus primarily on

         11  sort of 29 schools in my area. Is there a percentage

         12  as to what will go to the 21 new schools versus the

         13  CIPs, those sort of based on need and build-out?

         14  Because obviously I have an interest on trying to

         15  put as much as possible into the improvements.

         16                 MR. HOLDEN: The CIP projects are

         17  based predominantly on our building condition

         18  assessment survey, and it is a function of need, the

         19  state of the school, the status of their systems, if

         20  they need work, if they don't need work. So, it

         21  really is a need-based program throughout the entire

         22  City.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You mentioned

         24  that nine out of 21 on the new schools would be bid

         25  out this year. How do you determine in terms of the
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          2  tremendous need of all the improvements what gets

          3  bid out when? How is that determination made?

          4                 MR. HOLDEN: Well, the 21 schools that

          5  we wanted to do had to be deferred because of the

          6  state.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm aware of

          8  it.

          9                 MR. HOLDEN: Right. And we had those

         10  projects already designed, ready to go, so when the

         11  State funding came in, we were able to put those on

         12  the street. We still have seat needs, so we tried to

         13  do a balance. We did new schools and we put out a

         14  lot of CIP projects, this month alone was quite a

         15  bit -- so, we're on target to complete our $1.8

         16  billion commitment plan for this year.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, the

         18  CIPs are sort of done in the same venue, which is

         19  when a school looks like it's been designed for

         20  improvement and ready to go?

         21                 I'm just trying to get the sense of

         22  how quickly the CIPs move, and why they move in what

         23  order?

         24                 MR. HOLDEN: In the BCAS, or the

         25  Building Condition Assessment Survey, all systems
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          2  are rated on a --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: One to five.

          4                 MR. HOLDEN: -- One to five basis.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I read them

          6  all.

          7                 MR. HOLDEN: And those that are the

          8  worst are going to get fixed the first.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. If

         10  that's what you're saying, if the school has a lot

         11  of fives, that would be a lot of --

         12                 MR. HOLDEN: It's based on systems.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Martin Luther

         14  King, Jr. High School. That's a very important one.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         17  Council Member.

         18                 Council Member Gerson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just one

         20  question with two parts. This is a prelude.

         21                 But with respect to the 21 schools,

         22  which you just discussed with Council Member

         23  Jackson, has there been any delay or postponement in

         24  the projected completion dates, between the original

         25  and the amended current plan before us? And if there
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          2  is a timetable change, obviously talking about those

          3  projects, you know, bid out, is that reflected in

          4  the document so we can look at the document and see

          5  the change and see what the current projected

          6  timetable is?

          7                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes, the current

          8  schedules are in the planned amendment, but doing a

          9  comparison, we would have to go back and take a look

         10  at that to see between the two.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, were any

         12  projects materially delayed because of the delay of

         13  state funding with respect to those 21 schools?

         14                 MR. HOLDEN: Well, by virtue of the

         15  fact that 21 were supposed to have been bid this

         16  year and would have been bid this year, if we had

         17  state funding, yes, there has been an impact.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And that has

         19  carried over to the projected completion date?

         20                 MR. HOLDEN: Yes. The current schedule

         21  is in the plan, so that's correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So there has

         23  been some delay as a result?

         24                 MR. HOLDEN: As a result of the delay

         25  in state funding, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's

          3  unfortunate.

          4                 All right, thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          6  Council Member.

          7                 Council Member Martinez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 I just want to continue on the line

         11  of questioning of Council Member Jackson. First of

         12  all, when you say that you changed the categories in

         13  the plan when we used to read your description, as

         14  you mentioned, one was state, one was City funding,

         15  now we don't have that, I understand that.

         16                 We also know that based on the fact

         17  that we didn't have the money, there were higher

         18  priorities put on some district rather than others,

         19  in terms of repair and construction.

         20                 Now that we have the money, it was

         21  not clear when you said when we look at the report

         22  now, are we going to look at this district-wide, or

         23  are we going to look at region-wide?

         24                 MR. HOLDEN: It's by region and school

         25  district, not by Council district.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, no. But

          3  is it either by region or Council -- excuse me -- by

          4  region or district?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Where are the

          6  armored guards?

          7                 MR. HOLDEN: So I understand your

          8  question, you're talking about how projects are --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Let me ask

         10  you the question clearly. Mr. Chair, when we look at

         11  the report, when you outline repairs or construction

         12  of new schools, are we going to look at that outline

         13  by region, or by district? School district, not

         14  Council district?

         15                 MR. HOLDEN: Right. There is by

         16  region. There is also I'm apprised a Council

         17  district. There are several different versions,

         18  depending upon who is reviewing it. But it's the

         19  same information, just cut different ways.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: But it's

         21  important how you present the information, because

         22  when we look at region-wide, there are several

         23  district within the region, and some district may

         24  have a lower population within that region than

         25  other district in the same region. Where we look at
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          2  the need for new construction and repairs, we may

          3  look within that region, the district that has the

          4  lower, lower population may show that we don't have

          5  a pressing need for new schools, if we don't look at

          6  the exact school district within those regions.

          7                 MR. HOLDEN: But the commitment, or

          8  the funding we need to take care of existing assets

          9  isn't necessarily based upon the population of the

         10  school. You have schools in there, the kids are

         11  going, they need to be repaired and it's totally

         12  based on need, nothing else. It's on the CIP plan.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         14  I'll stop for the sake of time, but I think this is

         15  interesting, Chairman Jackson, with the new plan, in

         16  terms of how it's going to be presented to us, I

         17  think more conversation needs to be had within the

         18  Committee to look at how, since we got the money,

         19  how the Department is going to be presenting

         20  construction and repairs, as they line them out for

         21  the district.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         24  Council member.

         25                 Council Member McMahon.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman.

          4                 And to the witness, I would just hope

          5  that you would allow me to digress from a direct

          6  question immediately, and I know that the notes are

          7  being passed, the queue cards, that the books are

          8  here, but I'm going to make a 15-second statement,

          9  and Council Member Jackson, if I could just have

         10  your attention, sir, because it's you that I want to

         11  address, you know, because of your efforts and what

         12  you've done over so many years on the vote that

         13  we're about to take and a vote that we're going to

         14  take on the floor tonight.

         15                 Twelve-hundred Staten Island school

         16  children who live in my district will have a much

         17  better accommodation for school in the very near

         18  future, and I think we have a lot to do tonight,

         19  we're going to go on the floor tonight, there won't

         20  be time for long speeches, I know there's not time

         21  for long speeches tonight, but on behalf of the

         22  people I represent, and I know everyone in this room

         23  feels the same way, congratulations and thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Before the books

         25  we have Nadine Felton here to testify about the
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          2  absentee landlord surcharge.

          3                 Nadine.

          4                 Anybody else have any more questions

          5  for the Vice President and General Counsel of School

          6  Construction Authority? Seeing none, thank you, Mr.

          7  Holden.

          8                 MR. HOLDEN: Thank you. Have a good

          9  evening.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         11  by Council Member Charles Barron from Brooklyn. Any

         12  other Council Members I didn't introduce? And

         13  Council Member Albert Vann from Brooklyn.

         14                 Nadine, the floor is yours.

         15                 MS. FELTON: Nadine Felton, Assistant

         16  Director of Finance Division. And just to something

         17  you all know, the absentee landlord surcharge is due

         18  to go into effect July 1, unless the Council takes

         19  action to delay its implementation in some form, and

         20  during, you all, the Council members, decided during

         21  budget, the whole budget process, not to implement

         22  it in '07, and what was decided was to not take the

         23  law off the books, but keep the law on the books,

         24  and set the surcharge at zero percent. If it were to

         25  go into effect July 1, the surcharge would be 25
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          2  percent on taxes paid by owners of class 1 homes,

          3  one-, two-, three-family homes who are absentee

          4  owners and use their properties to generate rental

          5  income.

          6                 So, the action before you tonight is

          7  to do a local law to set that surcharge at zero

          8  percent so nobody will be charged the additional

          9  taxes in '07, and then if the Council deems that it

         10  wants to re-implement or put back the surcharge at

         11  any point in time, they only have to act by Local

         12  Law 2, set the surcharge at a certain percent of

         13  taxes.

         14                 Any questions?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any questions for

         16  Ms. Felton?

         17                 Seeing none, thank you.

         18                 And before we hear from the books, we

         19  have Ray Majesky to testify about the film tax

         20  credit.

         21                 Ray, tell us about the Film Tax

         22  Credit.

         23                 MR. MAJESKY: You know, I'm going to

         24  get a complex here. Usually when I start speaking

         25  somebody says briefly.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What television

          3  shows are we missing tonight?

          4                 MR. MAJESKY: Okay, I'm Ray Majesky,

          5  Chief Economist, Special Advisor for Tax Policy,

          6  Council Finance.

          7                 The Film Tax Credit was first enacted

          8  by the Council back in December 2004. At that time

          9  the cap on the credit for the, total credits for the

         10  year were set at $12.5 million. Credits so that

         11  eligible films -- sorry, let me go back.

         12                 Credits now equal five percent of

         13  qualified production costs incurred in the

         14  production of a film or television show. Should the

         15  total credits for the year exceed $12.5 million,

         16  eligible films are allowed to apply for the credit

         17  in the next year.

         18                 Currently all credits through the

         19  sunset of the film credit in 2008 have been applied

         20  for.

         21                 What this bill will do today is to

         22  raise the cap on the annual amount of credits to $30

         23  million, and extend the film tax credit through

         24  2011.

         25                 The Made In New York Incentive
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          2  Program yielded an economic impact about $1.5

          3  billion and created over 10,000. Any questions?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any questions?

          5                 Seeing none, thank you very much.

          6                 Okay, this is what we're going to do:

          7  Unfortunately, we don't have enough books for every

          8  Council member. We have enough books for every

          9  Finance member. There's got to be some advantage to

         10  being on the Finance Committee. So, this is what

         11  we're going to do. If a Finance Committee member

         12  would be willing to share their book with a

         13  non-Finance Committee member, that would be

         14  certainly collegial, but we are going to take a

         15  ten-minute recess, and they will give every Finance

         16  Committee member a book, and those members that

         17  aren't on Finance Committee, if they could find a

         18  Finance Committee buddy who is interested in sharing

         19  with them, that's okay.

         20                 So, the Finance Committee is going to

         21  stand in a ten-minute recess.

         22                 (Recess taken.)

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good evening. The

         24  Finance Committee is back in session. We will now do

         25  one coupled motion.
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          2                 We're going to consider two

          3  preconsidered intros, one on the Film Tax Credit,

          4  one on the Absentee Landlord Surcharge.

          5                 Two, we're going to consider M 118

          6  and two companion resolutions relating to Fiscal

          7  Year '07 expense budget.

          8                 Three, we will consider M 119 and two

          9  companion resolutions relating to the Fiscal Year

         10  '07 capital budget.

         11                 Four, we will consider M 120 and

         12  companion resolutions relating to Fiscal Year '07

         13  Community Development Program.

         14                 Five, we'll consider M 203 and

         15  companion Resolution relating to 2006 amendment to

         16  the five-year education capital plan; and

         17                 Six, we're also voting on the

         18  following items which will be coupled to filed, M

         19  112, M 113, M 114, M 115, M 116, M 117, M 118, M

         20  119, M 121, M 122, M 123, M 124, M 125.

         21                 And we're also voting on the

         22  following items to be coupled: A Message from the

         23  Mayor and Companion Resolution to Fiscal Year '07

         24  Expense Modification, MN 7. Fiscal Year '06 Expense

         25  Modification, MN 7, and another companion Resolution
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          2  relating to Fiscal Year '06 revenue modification MN

          3  8, and finally, a companion resolution fixing the

          4  tax rate.

          5                 We're now going to call the roll on

          6  all items coupled. By the time we vote, it will have

          7  a quorum.

          8                 Do we have a question, Councilman

          9  Fidler? You just refer to it as a preconsidered

         10  intro relating to the Absentee Landlord Surcharge.

         11  It doesn't have a number. It's one of the messages

         12  from the Mayor. So, just when you explain your vote,

         13  just refer to the preconsidered resolution from the

         14  Mayor relating to the absentee landlord surcharge.

         15                 If you could call the roll.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         21                 (No response.)

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye on all.
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          2  Congratulations to Council Member Fidler who spent a

          3  lot of time thinking about how to best utilize the

          4  absentee landlord and who doesn't have a number but

          5  is something that he certainly deserves a lot of

          6  credit for thinking about the policy thereof. I vote

          7  aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         10  Congratulations to all. Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye on all.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye on all,

         15  except the preconsidered Reso on the Absentee

         16  Landlord Surcharge, on which I abstain.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Very good. No

         18  number.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         20                 (No response.)

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

         22                 (No response.)

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Aye on all,

          5  except the Movie Tax Credit, I vote no.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We'll make sure

          7  you don't get invited to that screening.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

         13                 (No response.)

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         19                 (No response.)

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Following the

         22  lead of my leader Lew Fidler on the Absentee

         23  Landlord, I will vote no. And on the tax-fixing

         24  resolution I will vote no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, he abstained.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I know that. I

          3  know that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, just for

          5  the record.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes, precisely

          7  different reasons.

          8                 And I vote yes on all others.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Yes on all.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: No on the

         13  tax-fixing resolution, and no on the absentee

         14  landlord surcharge and aye on all others.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye on all.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 18 in the

         18  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions,

         19  all items are adopted, with the exceptions of

         20  preconsidered Intro in relation to the film

         21  production tax credits, which was adopted by a vote

         22  of 15 in the affirmative, two in the negative, one

         23  abstention, and preconsidered Intro. And tax credit,

         24  which was adopted by a vote of 15 in the affirmative

         25  and three in the negative.
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          2                 Council Members, please sign all

          3  Committee reports.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Please sign the

          6  Committee reports.

          7                 I will keep the roll open for those

          8  members in the area still around reading the books.

          9                 Other than that, we're adjourned. And

         10  after signing the Committee reports, we will proceed

         11  into the Chamber for a vote shortly.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Committee on Finance.

         13  Correction in the vote. All items were adopted by a

         14  vote of 18 in the affirmative, zero negative, no

         15  abstentions, with the exceptions of the Absent

         16  preconsidered Intro regarding absentees, was 15 in

         17  the affirmative, two in the negative, one

         18  abstention. In relation to the film tax resolution,

         19  it was adopted by a vote of 17 in the affirmative,

         20  one in the negative, no abstentions. And the

         21  tax-fixing reso was adopted by a vote of 16 in the

         22  affirmative, two in the negative, zero abstentions.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 11:23 p.m.)

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Committee on Finance.
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          2                 Council Member Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye on all,

          4  with congratulations and acclamations to Finance

          5  Chair David Weprin, all members of the Committee

          6  and, of course, our Speaker. Aye on all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: All items on the

          8  Finance Committee are now adopted by a vote of 16 in

          9  the affirmative -- excuse me -- 19 in the

         10  affirmative, zero in the negative, no abstentions,

         11  with the exception of preconsidered in relation to

         12  film production tax credits, which is now adopted by

         13  a vote of 18 in the affirmative, one in the

         14  negative, no abstentions; tax fixing reso now

         15  adopted by a vote of 17 in the affirmative, two in

         16  the negative, zero abstentions.

         17                 That's it. Thank you.

         18                 The final vote in the Committee on

         19  Finance now stands at 20 in the affirmative, zero in

         20  the negative and no abstentions, with the exception

         21  of preconsidered Intro in relation to film

         22  production tax credits, now stands at 19 in the

         23  affirmative, one in the negative, no abstentions;

         24  preconsidered Intro in relation to a real property

         25  tax surcharge in certain class one properties now

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  stands at 17 in the affirmative, two in the

          3  negative, one abstention, and tax fixing resolution

          4  now stands at 17 in the affirmative, and two in the

          5  negative.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 11:23 p.m.)
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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